Ground Systems and Mission Operations (GSMO)
Final RFP NNG10315581R 

Questions and Responses

September 7, 2010
Cover Letter:

1. The Cover Letter states that the anticipated contract award date is November 2010. Should the cost exhibits assume that Contact Year 1 begins ~60 days after this, or January 2011?

Government Response:  The cover letter will be updated to reflect the anticipated contract award is April 2011. At that time a separate fixed price 60 day Phase-In contract will also be awarded and the Phase-In effort will commence.  Therefore, the effective date for full-up performance under the GSMO contract is anticipated in June 2011, which should be used for the purposes of the cost exhibits. 
2. Reference: August 13, 2010 cover letter and Section L.21.2.l. On the cover letter dated August 13, 2010, the government states [second paragraph, last sentence] that the anticipated start date is November 2010 following a 60-day phase-in.  In RFP Section L.21.2.l Phase-In (page 147), the government states that the phase-in will commence on or about May 2011.  For planning and pricing purposes, please provide correct dates for the commencement of the phase-in and the contract start. 

Government Response:  See the Response to question No. 1.
Section J:
3. Reference:  Section J (page 105), “Lists of Documents, Exhibits, and Other Attachments”.  The list contains Government property available to the contractor for use on this contract.  There is not a comparable Attachment for COTS/GOTS software products. 
(a) Please provide a list of Government provided software COTS products and associated licenses (along with the current end date for each license) to support the GSMO Requirements. 
Government Response:  Please refer to the GSMO Library for the list of vendors, expiration dates, products, and associated task orders.
(b) Please provide a list of Government provided GOTS software products, e.g., ITPS, TAPS, etc. which the contractor must maintain. Please refer to the GSMO Library for the document, COTs & GOTs which contains the list of system names and function for some current software that is in scope of the GSMO contract.
(c) When will this information be available in the Bidder’s Library or as a modification to the RFP?
Government Response: A list of Government provided COTS products and associated licenses and GOTS software products whose maintenance is in scope of the GSMO procurement, and which the contractor may be tasked to maintain, to support the GSMO Requirements has now been posted to the Library. 

Section L:

4. Section L.20, 2. Subfactor C, please expand on the instructions for the following requirement: "The Offeror shall describe its methodology for compliance with Attachment B: Financial Management Reporting Requirements and in accordance with Attachment H: DD Form 254.  

Government Response: The two requirements have been reworded and separated to clearly indicate each requirement. See Amendment 1 for update as follows; The Offeror shall describe its methodology for compliance with Attachment B: Financial Management Reporting Requirements and the methodology for compliance with Attachment H: DD Form 254.

5. Section L.21, Cost Proposal, 2. Cost Proposal Format, There are instructions on including other direct costs in Exhibit 6.  However,  one location refers to including “cost items that will be routinely direct charged as an Other Direct Cost in all task orders”, and other locations reference including “any recurring ODCs (e.g. computer usage, program management, depreciation, administrative support, etc.) routinely bid on an established cost estimating relationship in accordance with your approved accounting system.”  Should this exhibit include routinely charged one-time and occasionally charged ODCs as well as recurring ODCs?  Examples of routine, one time charges would include software licenses, specialty tool (software and hardware) purchases, etc.

Government Response: The intended purpose of this chart was to capture costs that are “repeatedly” proposed as an ODC under all task orders (like supplies, computer usage, admin, etc).  If a software license cost will be charged one-time under every task order, then it is a recurring ODC.  If the software license cost will be appear only one time in one or two task orders (not every task order), then it is not a recurring ODC.  We are trying to flush out the repeat costs.   

6. Reference: Section L.18 (b) (1) Table II (page 124). Table specifies a maximum of 100 pages for the Mission Suitability Volume. Given that the RTO is a full life cycle RTO and that it requires a full staffing table, request the Mission suitability Volume page limit be increased from 100 to 125 pages, or exclude the RTO staffing table from the page count.

Government Response:   Within Mission Suitability a staffing table is not required.  The RTO will be evaluated for the appropriateness of the provided staffing and skill mix required for accomplishing the RTO. (p. 159) The Government has reviewed the page count for Mission Suitability and has determined that it will remain unchanged.  In the cost area, a staffing table is required, but excluded from page counts.
7. Reference: Section L.20.3, Subfactor C and Section M.3.1, Subfactor C. There is a discontinuity between Sections L & M regarding the approach for resolving priority conflicts.  We believe this sentence is misplaced in Section M paragraph 6 and should be in Section M paragraph 5.  Please clarify.

Government Response:   Amendment 1 clarifies this and the following update has been made:
The following sentence has been removed from paragraph 6 to be more in line with Section L.20.3 Subfactor C and added to Section M.3.1 Subfactor C, paragraph 5 

The Government will evaluate the adequacy of the Offeror’s approach to resolving priority conflicts.

This update has not changed the way the government will evaluate this information.

Section L.20.3, Subfactor C:  Paragraph 6:  The Offeror shall address the ability to provide short-term assistance and support to cover fluctuating requirements. The Offeror shall indicate ability to staff for new requirements from existing resources, and the policies on temporary assignment of company personnel with relevant specialized skills. During the course of the effort, the Contractor may be required to take over work being performed by another Contractor.  Offerors shall discuss any special considerations or processes it takes to ensure the orderly transition of these types of tasks.  The Offeror shall describe its approach for resolving priority conflicts.

Section L.20.3, Subfactor C Paragraph 7:  Task orders will be issued in accordance with the Task Ordering Procedure clause in Section H.3 of this RFP.  The Offeror shall provide a process flow and a timeline for task order processing. The Offeror's proposal shall detail the approach for organizing, assigning staff, tracking, and managing tasks from task initiation to completion, including configuration control, subcontracting, schedule, and cost. Propose metrics that can be used to evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the task order management process.  

Section M.3.1, Subfactor C.  Paragraph 5:  The Government will evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of the Offeror’s approach to providing short-term assistance and support to cover fluctuating requirements, to staff for new requirements and temporary assignments, and the special considerations or processes proposed for the orderly transition of tasks.  

Section M.3.1, Subfactor C Paragraph 6:  The Government will evaluate the reasonableness of the Offeror’s process flow and a timeline for task order processing. The government will evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of the Offeror’s approach for organizing, assigning staff, tracking, and managing tasks from task initiation to completion, including configuration control, subcontracting, schedule, and cost.   The Government will evaluate the proposed metrics for efficiency and reasonableness.  The Government will evaluate the adequacy of the Offeror’s approach to resolving priority conflicts. 

8. Reference: Section L.21.1 (page 140). For the cost volume, a significant subcontractor is defined as “any subcontract that is likely to meet or exceed a total contract value of $15 Million.” At $15 million, a subcontractor can be classified as significant at only 3% of the maximum contract value of $450 million.  For a 5-year period of performance, this definition equates to any subcontract that is likely to meet/exceed $3 Million per year. Request the government consider increasing the significant subcontractor threshold to any subcontract that is likely to meet or exceed a total contract value of $30 Million. 

Government Response:  The Government has considered the request and has decided that the RFP will remain unchanged in this area.
9. Reference: Section L.21.2 (b) (page 142).  Since the RFP requires the RTO to be priced with rates contained in attachment C and not all of the positions required staffing the RTO fit cleanly into the labor categories contained in the GPM, would the Government allow non-management labor categories in addition to the GPM labor categories to be proposed on Attachment C? 
Government Response: The Government has considered this section and is making the following revisions to Attachment C:  

In Attachment C, the prime Offeror shall propose unburdened direct labor rates for all labor categories in Section 1 and all individual bid indirect rates in Section 2, clearly delineating on-site and off-site rates. The Offeror’s fee rate included in Section 3 of the matrix shall be used to calculate the maximum available award fee for performing all task orders issued under the resultant contract. In Section 4, the Offeror shall include a fully-loaded direct labor rate matrix for each subcontractor expected to provide direct labor effort under the contract-(each subcontractor) included in Exhibits 1A and 1B (Government Pricing Model). In Section 5, provide Position Descriptions for all Offeror proposed direct labor categories specified in Section 1 and all subcontractors’ proposed direct labor categories specified in Section 4.
10. Reference Section L.21.2 (b) (page 142).  The RFP states that in Section 4 of Attachment C the offeror should only include the fully loaded rates for Significant Subcontractors.  Since we expect to include work share for other proposed subcontractors in the RTO and Section B.7 states that the Attachment C rates will be used for Task Ordering, Attachment C rates are needed for all proposed subcontractors.  Please consider changing this section to state that all subcontractors should provide an Attachment C.

Government Response: The Government will be revising Attachment C of the RFP, more information will be forthcoming.  

11. Reference Section L.21.2(c) (page 142). There is no place in the GPM exhibit for cost items such as ODCs, travel, materials, facilities, etc.  Will the Government be providing annual plug numbers for these cost elements in the GPM to be used to calculate final cost? 
Government Response: The government will not provide cost items such as ODC’s as plug numbers for this effort, as they do not belong in the GPM. The GPM is for costs that are labor related only. However, the offer may propose labor related Cost Estimating Relationship’s (CER’s) in the GPM, if applicable. 

12. Reference Section L.21.2 (d) (page 144).  We have several questions regarding the mapping of incumbent labor categories into the GPM labor categories:

a) In the instructions for Exhibit 2A and 2B in L.21.2 (d), you state that “if a composite rate is comprised of 3 or more labor categories, the composite rate shall not include any labor category that contributes less than a 30% portion of anticipated effort.”  This limits us to mapping only 3 categories; it would be impossible to map more than 3 categories with each contributing 30% or more of the total effort.  Can you please clarify the minimum effort required if we map more than 3 categories?

Government Response:  The Government believes that a maximum of 3 labor categories will provide a meaningful and effective effort for mapping to the GSMO GPM labor categories, therefore; the language has been changed to remove the following words, “or more”.  

b) The RFP instructions are clear that we are to map the incumbent labor categories into the GPM labor categories (Section L.21.2 (d)).  However, we feel it is necessary to add labor categories to map into the GPM categories (Enclosure 4), because the incumbent labor categories (Enclosure 6) do not provide a good correlation with the GPM categories in some instances.  Is it permissible to map additional labor categories and rates derived from historical, actual, or survey data into the GPM labor categories in addition to the incumbent labor categories?

Government Response: The government will be providing a revised Enclosure 6, Incumbent Weighted Average Labor Rates to support the mapping of Incumbent labor categories to the GPM. 

c) Are we required to map every incumbent labor category provided by the Government into a GPM category (Enclosure 6 and Section L.21.2 (d))? There are some incumbent labor categories, such as Functional Manager, Logistics, Property Specialist, and Security, that we feel there is no good fit for in the GPM category list.  Is it acceptable to the Government that not every specific incumbent labor category be mapped to a GPM labor category?

Government Response: Yes, each Offeror is required to map each labor category to the GPM. The government will be revising the GSMO labor categories removing management and administrative positions and revising Enclosure 6, Incumbent Weighted Average Labor Rates as indicated in the Notice posted 9/7/10. 

d) Since every offeror is likely to have a different interpretation of the mapping of incumbent labor categories to GPM categories, which will cause direct labor costs to vary (possibly significantly) from bid to bid, will the government please provide the mapping from the incumbent labor categories to the GPM labor categories?  Or provide a list of the GPM labor categories with the corresponding incumbent rate data?

Government Response: The government will be providing a revised Enclosure 6, Incumbent Weighted Average Labor Rates to support the mapping of Incumbent labor categories to the GPM. 

e) There are numerous incumbent labor categories designated as non-exempt, but only a few GPM labor categories that seem appropriate to designate as non-exempt (Enclosure 6).  Is it the Government’s expectation that all non-exempt effort would fall within the scope of these few GPM categories appropriate for designating as non-exempt?  Should these few GPM categories appropriate for designating as non-exempt be used exclusively on the RTO for effort requiring the use of non-exempt labor categories? 

Government Response: The government cannot provide direction on how to staff the RTO. The government does not preclude Offeror's from proposing additional non-management Labor Categories in addition to those provided in the GPM.
13. Reference Section L.21.2 (g) (page 145).  Since the RTO is a full life cycle RTO over the entire GSMO period of performance, there will be many unknowns in ODC requirements in the later years due to trades and decisions made in the early years. Suggest the Government consider providing plug numbers for ODCs in the RTO ()?
Government Response: The government will not provide plug numbers for the RTO. Any assumptions made should be clearly communicated and based on each Offerors approach to the RTO.

14. Reference L.22 (a) Past Performance Volume, Information from the Offeror (Second Paragraph). 

“A proposed significant subcontractor(s) for this procurement is defined as any proposed subcontract estimated to meet/exceed an average annual cost/fee of $20M.  Note, the definition of significant subcontractor for the past performance evaluation is different than for the cost evaluation.  The offeror shall provide the information requested below for any significant subcontractor(s) for those similar efforts within the last 5 years that had an actual incurred cost/fee on an annual average of at least 25% of the estimated dollar value of the proposed significant subcontract”

Question: FAR 15.305 (2) iii states: The evaluation should take into account past performance information regarding predecessor companies, key personnel who have relevant experience, or subcontractors that will perform major or critical aspects of the requirement when such information is relevant to the instant acquisition.

GSMO is a mission critical contract where many of the subcontractors, both large business and small business, will be performing either major or critical aspects of the job.  To put a fairly high dollar value on what constitutes a significant subcontractor potentially eliminates most subcontractors that are performing major or critical functions from being evaluated.  In addition, when combined with the required small business work share requirements, the $20M/year threshold has the effect of limiting each team to only one significant subcontractor. This does not appear to be in the best interest of the government, since only the prime and potentially only one significant subcontractor would be fully evaluated as to their ability to perform, leaving to chance (past performance not referenced and validated) work that may be major or critical in a mission critical contract.

Given the mission critical nature of the GSMO contract and that valuable government assets, health and safety as well as valuable science are at stake, we recommend that the government either (a) lower the threshold of the definition of a significant subcontractor to an annual cost/fee of $9M (about 10% of the $450M GSMO ceiling), or (2) allow the contractor to define those subcontractors that they deem to be major or performing critical functions.  

Government Response: The government has updated the definition of a significant subcontractor for the purpose of the Past Performance evaluation to the following: A proposed significant subcontractor for this procurement is defined as any proposed subcontractor that is estimated to meet/exceed an average annual cost/fee of $8M.  

15. Reference: L.22 (b) PRIOR CUSTOMER EVALUATIONS (PAST PERFORMANCE QUESTIONNAIRES) (page 151): “Offerors shall include in their proposal the written consent of their proposed significant subcontractors to allow the Government to discuss the subcontractors' past performance evaluation with the Offeror.” Recommend that the government exclude the consent letter(s) from the page count of the Past Performance Volume.

Response: The Government has updated Table II to add the Subcontractor Consent form and to exclude that form from the page count, per Amendment 1, L.18 (b) (1). 
Section M:

16. Reference: M.3 MISSION SUITABILITY FACTOR (page 158) 1st paragraph. 

This paragraph refers to "resources proposed..." and "Offeror's justification for the proposed resources..." Given that the instructions in L.21 COST VOLUME 2(c) GOVERNMENT PRICING MODEL (page 142) instructs the Prime Contractor to ONLY complete Exhibit 1A, containing the DL Categories listed, and L.21 2 (g) RTO COSTS (page 145) instructs the Offeror to include all costs for the RTO, it appears that the only "resource realism" analysis that could be done would be on the proposed RTO resources. Please clarify that M.3 first paragraph only applies to the RTO.

Response:  The first paragraph in M.3 applies to the entire Mission Suitability section, not just to the RTO. 
17. Reference: [this question already submitted but prior to Final RFP release]
M.5 Past Performance Evaluation Factor (Second paragraph, last sentence), now states:

“The past performance of the prime offeror will be weighted more heavily than any significant subcontractor or combination of significant subcontractors in the overall past performance evaluation.”

Question:

FAR 15.305 (2) iii states: “The evaluation should take into account past performance information regarding predecessor companies, key personnel who have relevant experience, or subcontractors that will perform major or critical aspects of the requirement when such information is relevant to the instant acquisition.” In the past GSFC has benefited from large blended teams made up of a prime and its significant subcontractors delivering an aggregate team capability.  The new past performance evaluation factor both downgrades and discourage the use of subcontractors that will perform major or critical aspects of the requirement.  Knowing that the significant subcontractors past performance would count less in the evaluation, prime contractors would not be motivated to bring on significant subcontractors (or subcontractors unless they fulfill a SB/SDB requirements) for critical aspects of the requirement, thus not giving the government the benefits of a combined team approach which would offer a best value solution.  If a significant subcontractor’s capability in a major or critical area was stronger than the prime’s, the past performance evaluation would result in a score lower than it would have been in the past, potentially resulting in a selection that was less than optimal and not in the best interest of GSFC.

Given that this is a new requirement that to our knowledge has not yet appeared in any previous GSFC RFPs, and its negative implications in establishing for GSFC competitive teams that offer best value solutions, we recommend that this requirement be deleted, and that the full team of the offeror and significant subcontractors be considered as a whole.   

The Government has no intention of discouraging the use of subcontractors.  However,  given the role and responsibility of the prime contractor, the Government has determined that prime Offerors’ past performance will be weighted more heavily than significant subcontractors in the past performance evaluation.

Enclosures:

18. Enclosure 6, The Incumbent Team Weighted Direct Labor Rates:  
A. The enclosure includes a listing of collective bargaining unit (CBA) employees.  We were under the impression that these CBA employees were used on MOMS as a shared support with the incumbent’s NENS contract and that their support is not required for the GSMO work scope.  Please clarify if the CBA employees are required to fully support the work on GSMO.  If yes they are required, please identify where are they located, provide a copy of the current CBA between the incumbent and the MOMS contract, and identify which SOW areas are they supporting? 
Government Response: The CBA employees currently used in the MOM’s and NEN’s contracts are not in the scope of work related to the GSMO procurement. However, the use of CBA employees will be at the discretion of each Offeror and their proposed staffing and potential use of incumbent capture.  
The following Government Response regarding Enclosure 6 applies to all parts of the question a, b, c and d: 
After the release of the final RFP on 8/13/2010, the Government received updated data regarding Enclosure 6 and the census information provided within.  Further review of this updated data has identified a calculation error in the previously posted Enclosure 6. Per Amendment 1 the Government has provided an updated Enclosure 6 which corrects the average weighted data and removes the census data, as the census data has already been captured in the average weighted rate provided.
b. The enclosure includes a column title, “Census”.  What is the definition of Census in Column D of the spreadsheet? See above response
c. If the Census is equivalent to FTEs, then what productive work year was used to calculate these FTEs?

See above response
d. If the productive workforce for one year on MOMS equals the 869 census, what portion of this census will be on GSMO? ( i.e., Does the census include FTEs which will not be used on GSMO ? and  If yes, then will the Government identify which positions and FTEs are not going anticipated to be used on GSMO (HST work, SES work, FDF work, etc). ) See above response
RTO: 
19. Please clarify who develops the T&C system:  The GSMO contractor, the ACME contractor, or another group.

Government Response: The GSMO contractor shall develop, propose and support an approach that makes the T&C system available to the Government for this project. Refer to the following areas for clarification:

RTO Enclosure 1, Page 3, Section 2.3.2.1 Telemetry, Command, and Control: The Contractor shall define the telemetry and command (T&C) software and hardware requirements….
RTO Enclosure 1, Page 2, first paragraph under Performance Elements:  “The Contractor shall provide a Task Plan that identifies the technical approach and defines the date and content of intermediate milestones such as reviews, documents, and ground system hardware and software deliveries (including specific content and quantities suggested, if applicable) necessary to meet the major objectives and milestones of the mission as listed above.”

Also, Refer to GSMO SOW Attachment A, Sections 2.3.2 and 2.3.2.1 for additional guidance.
20. For orbit maneuver planning, will FDF perform the analysis and provide the burn plans to the GSMO contractor to use in Orbit maneuver planning?

Government Response: The RTO states that the GSMO contractor shall be responsible for orbit maneuver planning, which encompasses creating a burn plan. Refer to the following area for clarification: RTO Enclosure 1, Page 7 Section 3.5 first sentence.  The contractor shall generate … data products … orbit maneuver planning and execution. 
21. Section 3.7.1; please clarify what is meant by Flight Software maintenance.  Is the GSMO Contractor responsible for software code maintenance and code patches?  

Government Response: Flight Software Maintenance includes performing software code modifications to correct or enhance functionality, or in response to an anomaly.  Maintenance activities involve design implementation, development, test, load support, and monitoring of flight code and its performance.  Maintenance may involve ground systems, including simulators of varying fidelity if utilized.  It includes configuration management of documentation, and binary images.   The GSMO contractor is responsible for providing flight software maintenance and code patches and shall propose and support their approach. Refer to the following areas for clarification: RTO Enclosure 1, Page 8 section 3.7.1 states that the Task Plan shall identify the approach to provide flight software maintenance and anomaly resolution for the spacecraft. GSMO SOW Attachment A, Section 3.7.2.1 lists the type of work that is considered ground system software maintenance.  The above response is an extension of that information to the flight software environment.

22. Is the link margin adequate for NEN contact at apogee?  

Government Response: Yes, the link margin is adequate for the NEN contact at apogee. Refer to the following area for clarification: RTO Enclosure 1, Page 1, and Purpose section (in the bulleted area) does NOT identify that there is inadequate link margin at apogee.
